FINAL REPORT JUNE 2018

HisTORIC RESOURCES SURVEY OF
LAPLACE HISTORIC DISTRICT

PREPARED FOR:

ST. JOHN THE BAPTIST PARISH
102 E. AIRLINE HIGHWAY
LaAPLACE, LA 70068

Sensitive Information: Not For Public Distribution

R. CHRISTOPHER GOODWIN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
309 JEFFERSON HIGHWAY = NEwW ORLEANS, LA 70121




HiISTORIC RESOURCES SURVEY OF
LAPLACE HISTORIC DISTRICT

Q/mm

William“P. Athens, M.A., R.P.A. Kat yn M.’Kurarida, M.Arch.Hist.
Co-Principal Investigator Co-Principal Investigator

FINAL REPORT

By
Jill Enersen, M.P.S., Kelly Morgan, M.P.S., Alison Hill, M.P.S.
R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.
309 Jefferson Highway, Suite A
New Orleans, LA 70121
June 2018
For
St. John the Baptist Parish

102 E. Airline Highway
LaPlace, LA 70068

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. Contains Privileged Information -- Do Not Release



TABLE OF CONTENTS

II.

I11.

IV.

Introduction ......ccovitiiiinteeeeeeeseeseeseasssonsoassanssasl

INtroduction. . . . . ..o 1
Survey Area and DesCription . . .........outt ittt 1
Project ObJeCtiVe. . ..ottt 1
Project Personnel . . ... ... . 5
Organization of the Report . . .. ... ... . 5

Research Design and Methodology ..............cciiiiiiiie.. 6

The Role of the Historic Context in Resource Evaluation................................ 6
Archival Research. . . ... ... 6
Field Survey Methodology . . . ... oo 6
Data ANalysSis . . ..ottt 6
HistoricContext. .....cvvtiiiitiernrreesessssssssssssssssnnans 7
LaPlace HiStory. . . . ..ottt e e 7
Survey Results ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienrrenneneennnnas 14
Previous Investi@ations. . . .. ...ttt e 14
Survey Results .. ... o 14
Bungalow . ... 15
Freestanding Commercial . ....... ... . i e 15
Ranch. .. e 18
Late Twentieth-Century Domestic Architecture .. .............................. 18
Cottage/Queen Anne Cottage .. ......ov it ittt et et et 18
Minimal Traditional Cottage . . ............ . it e e e 18
Mobile Home. . . .. ... e 22
Shotgun/Double Shotgun. . . ... . . e 24
Summary and ConclUSIONS . . . .. .ottt e e e 25
Analysis and Recommendations. ..........ccoiiiiiiereeennrenns 27
Local Criteria for Evaluation ... ......... ... .. i 27
Data ANalySiS . .. \vt et e 27
Periods of Significance . .. ... 29
Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources . .............coviiiiininnnenennnnn.. 29
Summary and Recommendations. . . ............. .. e 30

References Cited. . ..o vt iiiiiiiiitiieeeeeeeeeeeeeoenonnnnenneess 47

Documented Resources in the LaPlace Survey Area ............ Appendix A

Previous Investigations in the LaPlace Survey Area ............ Appendix B

il

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. Contains Privileged Information -- Do Not Release



Li1ST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1

Figure 1.2

Figure 1.3

Figure 3.1

Figure 3.2

Figure 3.3

Figure 3.4

Figure 4.1

Figure 4.2

Figure 4.3

Figure 4.4

Figure 4.5

Figure 4.6

Figure 4.7

Location Map of Garvyille, Reserve, and LaPlace historic districts in St.
John the Baptist Parish, Louisiana. . .............. ... .0t 2

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) of LaPlace Historic District within St.
John the Baptist Parish, Louisiana. . ................ .. ittt 3

LaPlace Historic District Survey Boundary. .. .......... ... ... ... ..., 4

Woodland Plantation, located at 1128 Highway 628. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. . ......... ... ... .. ........ 8

J.0. Montegut Plantation House, located at 1052 Highway 628. Photo-
graph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. .................. 8

Excerpt from an 1848 by John La Tourrette depicting land encompassing
present-day LaPlace. Image available online through the Library of Congress. ........ 9

Excerpt from an 1875 map by the Mississippi River Commission (re-

vised 1880 and 1894), depicting land encompassing present-day LaPlace.

Image available online through the National Oceanic and Atmospheric

Administration Office of Coast Survey Historical Map & Chart Collection. .......... 10

Bungalow-type dwelling located at 851 West Sth Street. Photograph by
R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. . ........................ 16

Bungalow-type dwelling located at 609 Main Street. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. . .......................... 16

Freestanding commercial-type building located at 509 Main Street. Pho-
tograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018................. 17

Freestanding commercial-type building located at 603 Main Street. Pho-
tograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018................. 17

Ranch-type dwelling located at 1142 Highway 628. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. . .......................... 19

Single-family domestic dwelling located at 141 Cottonwood Street. Pho-
tograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018................. 19

Single-family dwelling located at 247 West Sth Street. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. . .......................... 20

il

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. Contains Privileged Information -- Do Not Release



Figure 4.8

Figure 4.9

Figure 4.10

Figure 4.11

Figure 4.12

Figure 4.13

Figure 4.14

Figure 4.15

Figure 4.16

Figure 5.1

Single-family dwelling located at 383 West 5th Street. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. ....... ... ... .. .. .. ..... 20

Multi-family apartment building located at 1093-1095 Highway 628.
Photograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018.............. 21

Tudor Revival cottage-type dwelling located at 202 West 5th Street. Pho-
tograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018................. 21

Queen Anne cottage-type dwelling located at 278 West Sth Street. Photo-
graph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. ................. 22

Minimal traditional cottage-type dwelling located at 651 West 5th Street.
Photograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018.............. 23

Minimal traditional cottage-type dwelling located at 5609 West 5th
Street. Photograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. ....... 23

Mobile home-dwellings located at the mobile home park at Ideal Court.
Photograph by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018.............. 24

Shotgun-type dwelling located at 125 Ash Street. Photograph by R.
Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018. ........ ... ... ... ....... 25

Double shotgun-type dwelling located at 1152 Highway 628. Photograph

by R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018.. .. .................... 26
Overview Boundary Map and Contributing/Non-Contributing resources. . . . .. .. .. 32-46
v

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. Contains Privileged Information -- Do Not Release



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

ntroduction
This report presents the results of a recon-

naissance-level architectural survey of the
LaPlace Historic District. This investigation was
undertaken by R. Christopher Goodwin & Asso-
ciates, Inc. (RCG&A), on behalf of St. John the
Baptist Parish. All work was conducted in ac-
cordance with the Scope of Work developed by
St. John the Baptist Parish; the Secretary of the
Interior’s Standards for Archeology and Histor-
ic Preservation; National Register Bulletin 24:
Guidelines for Local Surveys: A Basis for Pres-
ervation Planning; Criteria for Designation of
Historic Districts and Local Landmarks (Section
114-28[d]) of St. John the Baptist Parish Historic
District Commission Ordinance 17-27, and Loui-
siana Historic Resource Inventory Guidelines.

Survey Area and Description

The LaPlace Historic District is located in
St. John the Baptist Parish, Louisiana (Figure
1.1, Figure 1.2). The local district boundary as
established in Section 114-29 Designated His-
toric Districts of the St. John the Baptist Parish
Historic District Commission Ordinance 17-27 is
reflected in Figure 1.3. St. John the Baptist Parish
is situated along the Mississippi River between
Baton Rouge and New Orleans. The Mississippi
River bisects the Parish into northern or “east
bank” and southern or “west bank™ portions.

In 2016, the St. John the Baptist Planning
and Zoning Department and the Historic Preser-
vation Study Committee partnered with gradu-
ate students with the University of New Orleans
Master of Urban and Regional Planning program
to develop a historic preservation plan for the
parish. This effort resulted in the preparation of a
report entitled Protecting the Future by Preserv-
ing the Past: A Report to the St. John the Baptist
Parish Historic Preservation Study Committee.
The plan identified the presence of four potential
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historic districts: Garyville, LaPlace, Reserve,
and Westbank River Road.

In May 2017, the Historic Preservation
Study Committee recommended that the Plan-
ning Commission and Parish Council establish
four local historic districts, create a Historic Pres-
ervation District Commission, adopt a preserva-
tion ordinance, and “utilize the survey results
from the University of New Orleans report to
administer the preservation ordinance until a full
survey can be conducted by a professional histor-
ic preservation firm” (St. John the Baptist Parish
Historic Preservation Study Committee 2017).
The Garyville, LaPlace, Reserve, and Westbank
River Road historic districts and their boundaries
formally were adopted by the St. John the Bap-
tist Parish Council in July 2017 and codified in
Chapter 114 — Historic Preservation of Ordinance
17-27.

In January 2018, St. John the Baptist Par-
ish contracted RCG&A to identify and evaluate
resources applying Criteria for Designation of
Historic Districts and Local Landmarks (Section
114-28[d]) of St. John the Baptist Parish His-
toric District Commission Ordinance 17-27 and
to identify contributing and non-contributing re-
sources in the Garyville, LaPlace and Reserve lo-
cal historic districts. This project has been partial-
ly funded through the Historic Preservation Fund
(HPF), administered through the National Park
Service (NPS), U.S. Department of the Interior,
through the Louisiana State Historic Preservation
Office (LASHPO), a component of the Office of
Cultural Development.

Project Objective

The objective of this project was to survey
and evaluate built resources within the LaPlace
Historic District in St. John the Baptist Par-
1sh, Louisiana. Built resource evaluations were
conducted applying Criteria for Designation of
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Historic Districts and Local Landmarks (Sec-
tion 114-28[d]) of St. John the Baptist Parish
Historic District Commission Ordinance 17-27.
Individual Louisiana Historic Resource Inven-
tory Guidelines (LHRI) survey forms were pre-
pared for built resources 50 years old or older
in accordance with the standards and guidelines
developed by the Louisiana Office of Cultural
Development, Division of Historic Preservation
(LDHP 2018).

Project Personnel

All work was completed in accordance with
guidelines set forth in the Secretary of the Inte-
rior’s Standards and Guidelines for Archeology
and Historic Preservation. All work was under-
taken by project staff who meet or exceed the

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.
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Secretary of the Interior’s professional qualifica-
tions in the disciplines of history, architectural
history, and/or historic preservation.

Organization of the Report

Chapter 1 contains a brief description of this
survey project. The research design and meth-
odology are described in Chapter 2. Chapter 3
provides a historic and thematic context for the
LaPlace Historic District. Chapter 4 presents the
results of the current architectural investigations.
Survey recommendations are provided in Chap-
ter 5. Appendix A includes a list of all resources
surveyed within the district. Previous Investiga-
tions are provided in Appendix B. LHRI forms
prepared for all built resources constructed before
1969 are presented in Appendix C.
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CHAPTER 11

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

he Role of the Historic Context in Re-
I source Evaluation

This project was completed through an
integrated program of archival research, field in-
vestigations, and data analysis. Archival research
was conducted to develop an overview of the
survey area’s history to identify the period(s) of
significance, and to establish appropriate historic
contexts for identification and assessment of sig-
nificance (St. John the Baptist Parish Council Or-
dinance 17-27 Section 114-28[d]).

Archival Research

Archival research was undertaken to refine
the historic context for the survey area, and to elu-
cidate chronological periods of development and
important historic themes. The resulting historic
context provided a framework for identifying and
assessing built resources within the appropriate
temporal, geographic, and thematic frameworks.
Archival research included review of primary and
secondary source materials pertaining to the his-
tory of LaPlace. Repositories consulted included
the St. John Parish Library and Conveyance Of-
fice, St. John Clerk of Courts. Additional resourc-
es consulted included historic photos and aerials,
United States Census records, digitized newspa-
per databases, and National Register nominations
and associated documentation for the survey ar-
eas.

Field Survey Methodology

Field survey of the built resources was un-
dertaken applying the guidelines set forth in Na-
tional Register Bulletin 24: Guidelines for Lo-
cal Surveys: A Basis for Preservation Planning
and the Louisiana Historic Resource Inventory
Guidelines. Two architectural historians surveyed

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.

the LaPlace Historic District between April 11
and 13, 2018. Team members also completed
digital architectural data sets, which were supple-
mented by digital photographs executed accord-
ing to photography standards developed by the
National Park Service.

Survey data were recorded using the Ful-
crum mobile data collection application on hand-
held smart mobile devices containing GPS with
up to sub-meter accuracy. Survey data were en-
tered manually into the devices. The Fulcrum
data collection application for the surveys includ-
ed all the data fields on the Louisiana Historic
Resource Inventory (LHRI) form. The data col-
lected included building type, architectural style,
approximate date of construction, plan type,
foundation, principal exterior materials, and roof
type and material. Character-defining features,
building modifications/ alterations, and historical
or architectural importance also were recorded.
Survey data were reviewed for completeness and
accuracy.

Data Analysis

Following field investigations, survey and
archival data were analyzed, and individual LHRI
forms were produced for resources constructed
before 1969. Resources were assessed individu-
ally and collectively to determine their potential
significance and integrity within the appropriate
historic context. Contributing and non-contrib-
uting resources to the LaPlace Historic District
also were identified. Criteria for Designation of
Historic Districts and Local Landmarks (Section
114-28[d]) of St. John the Baptist Parish Historic
District Commission Ordinance 17-27 served as
the primary guidance for these analyses.
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CHAPTER 111

HisTOorRiC CONTEXT

his chapter provides a general historic
I overview of LaPlace. Important themes
and contexts shaping development also

are presented.

LaPlace History

LaPlace maintained an agricultural identity
throughout much of its history. Initial settlement
of land comprising present-day LaPlace dates
from the early eighteenth century, when German
immigrants from the Karlstein settlement on the
west bank of the Mississippi River established a
farming community in the vicinity of the present-
day town (Laurent 1983:3). Although originally
referred to as Karlstein, the community later be-
came known as Bonnet Carr¢ after the introduc-
tion of French and Acadian peoples to the area
(Leeper 2012:146). The community again was re-
named after Frenchman Basile Laplace, Sr. during
the late nineteenth century. (Although named for
Basile Laplace, the spelling for the community
officially was designated “LaPlace” by the parish
police jury in 1971 [Bank of St. John 1974:19]).
LaPlace presently represents the largest town in
St. John the Baptist Parish.

Fertile soils supported the cultivation of
sugarcane on plantations in Bonnet Carré during
the eighteenth century. This agricultural devel-
opment includes sugarcane cultivation at Wood-
land Plantation, which was established in 1793
by Colonel Manuel Andry on nearly 2,000 acres
of land towards the eastern end of LaPlace, near
the current day West 5" Street (Begue 2017:6).
Andry built a two-room plantation house on the
parcel in ca. 1793. The house was enlarged by
subsequent owners during nineteenth and twen-
tieth centuries (Figure 3.1) (Begue 2017:3-6). By
1848, there were nearly a dozen sugar plantations
at Bonnet Carré (La Tourrette 1848). The planta-
tions occupied long, narrow parcels fronting the
Mississippi River. Property owners included the

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.

Hollingsworth family, which acquired Woodland
Plantation in 1839, as well as Zenon Boudous-
quié, who owned a plantation immediately down-
river of Woodland Plantation and built a house
there ca. 1815 (Figure 3.2) (Begue 2017:5; Stern-
berg 1996:123). An historical map from 1858
documents the names of other plantation owners
at Bonnet Carré, including the Montegut family
(alternately spelled Montaigut), who acquired
the Boudousquié plantation in 1852 (Figure 3.3)
(Persac 1858; Sternberg 1996:123).

Although farmers at Bonnet Carré benefited
from the water and nutrient-rich silt provided by
the Mississippi River, the river also was a source
of potential destruction. Bonnet Carré was locat-
ed at a sharp bend in the Mississippi River, which
resulted in recurring levee breaches beginning
as early as the 1840s. During one such breach
in 1871, floodwaters from the Mississippi River
caused a nearly 1,200-foot wide break in the le-
vee near present-day Crevasse Avenue, forming
the Bonnet Carré Crevasse. Water spilled through
the breach at a rate of eight miles per hour and
created a channel that connected the river to Lake
Pontchartrain (New Orleans Times 1871). Ac-
cording to a contemporary account, residents in
the path of the deluge were forced to flee their
homes:

Very near the break is a small collection of
houses, back of them plantations, and still far-
ther removed long lines of forests; over and
through all the flood pours with a restless force,
rushing up and down the country as fiercely as
if in search of something upon which to satisfy
its vengeance. From the village all life and light
have fled, and the deserted houses, with their
open doors, told too truly the painful story. [...]
No words can convey the desolate appearance
of the village of Bonnet Carre, abandoned as it
is to the watery waste, which covers, as with a
garment, the once pleasant spot [sic through-
out] (New Orleans Times 1871).
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Chapter II1: Historic Context

Figure 3.1 Woodland Plantation, located at 1128 Highway 628. Photograph by R. Christopher Goodwin
& Associates, Inc., April 2018.

Figure 3.2 J.0. Montegut Plantation House, located at 1052 Highway 628. Photograph by R. Christopher
Goodwin & Associates, Inc., April 2018.
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Chapter II1: Historic Context

Y "“

online through the Library of Congress.

The Bonnet Carré Crevasse was closed
through the construction of a levee by the fed-
eral government in 1883 (Sternberg 1996:122).
Author Mary Ann Sternberg describes the lasting
effect of nineteenth-century crevasses on the to-
pography of LaPlace, stating that “Relic sloughs,
low and now wooded, are visible on both sides
of Crevasse Street; a left turn on Grand Coulee
Street reveals a large relic pond. Dirt gouged out
by the force of the river formed mounds on which
area residents subsequently built houses” (Stern-
berg 1996:122-123). Visual evidence of the for-
mer crevasse are represented in the sharp curves
along the current-day East 5" Street/Highway
628 at McReine Road and Anderson Court.

The settlement’s name changed after
Frenchman Basile Laplace, Sr., a New Orleans-
based pharmacist, acquired land in Bonnet Carré
and established the Laplace Plantation there in

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.

S

Figure 3.3 Excerpt from an 1848 by John La Tourrette depicting land encompassing present-day LaPlace. Image available

1879 (Laurent 1983:3; Sternberg 1996:121). By
the last quarter of the nineteenth century, La-
Place evolved into a well-established commu-
nity featuring plantations, commercial services,
and dwellings. Laplace granted the Yazoo and
Mississippi Valley Railroad passage through his
property after 1879, and the depot that was built
ca. 1884 became known as LaPlace Station (Lau-
rent 1983:3). The station is depicted near the in-
tersection of the railroad track with present-day
Fir Street in a map dating from the last quarter
of the nineteenth century (Figure 3.4) (Missis-
sippi River Commission 1975). The same map
provides the names of plantations in addition to
LaPlace that subdivided the community, includ-
ing New Era, St. Martin, and Louque, as well as
the footprints of over 100 buildings fronting pres-
ent-day East 5" Street/Highway 628 and West 5%
Street. Present-day Cardinal Street is depicted in
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Figure 3.4 Excerpt from an 1875 map by the Mississippi River Commission (revised 1880 and 1894), depicting land encom-
passing present-day LaPlace. Image available online through the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administra-

tion Office of Coast Survey Historical Map & Chart Collection.
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a separate map from 1892, when the thoroughfare
served as the entrance to Woodland Plantation
(U.S. Geological Survey 1892). The Mississippi
River Sugar Belt Railroad was constructed to the
north of present-day Airline Highway in 1895.
The railroad efficiently and conveniently trans-
ported sugarcane from plantations in LaPlace,
where the crop was cultivated, to the Godchaux
sugar refinery in nearby Reserve, where it was
processed (Keller and Watson 2011:43).

Although sugar production remained the pri-
mary industry in LaPlace into the early twentieth
century, the cultivation and shipment of vegeta-
bles also emerged as an important component of
the local agricultural-based economy during this
time (Guillory 1983:6). Local farmer Armand
Montz, Sr. found success as a vegetable grower
and later as a pioneer in the frozen food indus-
try when, in 1914, he opened an ice plant on Ice
Factory Lane, where vegetables were frozen and
packaged before being shipped nationwide. As
many as 10 carloads of vegetables departed daily
from the plant, which featured six water wells
and diesel generators that supplied electricity to
the surrounding community (Guillory 1983:11).
Power lines from the plant later were extended as
far as the communities of St. Rose and Garyville,
and the enterprise was purchased by Louisi-
ana Power and Light in the late 1920s (Guillory
1983:6). The Montz ice plant was operational for
six decades before it shuttered its doors during
the 1970s (L Observateur 1983).

The population of LaPlace comprised 375
residents by 1914 (Fortier 1914:44). Despite its
small size, the community was home to a variety
of social and civic organization, including a dra-
ma club and the John L. Ory school, a two-story
wood-frame building constructed in 1908 on land
donated by the Ory family, then-owners of Wood-
land Plantation (Guillory 1983:11). According to
a 1914 handbook on Louisiana:

Laplace, one of the principal towns in the par-
ish of St. John the Baptist, is located on the
east bank of the Mississippi river, about 5 miles
northeast of Edgard, the parish seat, is one of
the richest agricultural districts of the state. It
has important sugar industries, a money order
post office, express and telegraph offices, local
and long distance telephone connections, and

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.
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is one of the greatest shipping points between
New Orleans and Baton Rouge. Three lines of
railroad—the Yazoo & Mississippi valley, the
Louisiana Railway & Navigation company, and
the Mississippi River Sugar Belt—pass through
the town, and about a dozen lines of steamboats
touch at Laplace, furnishing cheap transporta-
tion by water. Among these lines are the Ouachi-
ta and Red river steamers, the New Orleans,
Natchez & Vicksburg Packet company, the St.
Louis & Mississippi River Transportation com-
pany, and the St. Louis & New Orleans Anchor
line. Population, 375 [sic throughout] (Fortier
1914:44).

Subdivision of Woodland Plantation into
100-acre tracts in 1923 provided the catalyst
for the twentieth-century residential develop-
ment of LaPlace. Around this time, the St. Joan
of Arc Catholic Church was constructed by lo-
cal architect and builder Jules A. Pastureau on the
southern side of West 5 Street, opposite the John
L. Ory School. Like the school, the church site
also was donated by the Ory family. The John L.
Ory School was altered through the construction
of additional classrooms during the 1920s to ac-
commodate a growing number of students, and
by 1928, population growth in the community
required replacement of the school with a larger
facility (John L. Ory Communication Arts Mag-
net School n.d.).

Cartographic review suggests that construc-
tion at LaPlace exploded through the 1930s. This
new construction consisted of commercial and
residential development. Airline Highway was
constructed to the north of West 5™ Street during
this time, providing a modern highway route be-
tween New Orleans and Baton Rouge. The high-
way contributed greatly to the commercial devel-
opment of LaPlace, and new businesses catering
to motorists were built along the thoroughfare.
Historic quad maps also depict the rapid devel-
opment of the eastern half of West 5% Street in
the vicinity of Woodland Plantation during the
1930s, particularly along West 5™ Street between
present-day Maple Loop and Willow Street (Na-
tionwide Environmental Title Research, LLC
[NETR] var.). Buildings lined new thoroughfares
that extended from either side of West 5" Street,
including present-day Fir, Nutmeg, Jack, and
Main streets, as well as Orange and Maple loops
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and Dominican Road. New construction also
traced East 5™ Street/Highway 628 on land that
once formed part of the Bonnet Carré Crevasse,
including a Civilian Conservation Corps camp
erected at the intersection of East 5™ Street/High-
way 628 and McReine Road. The camp opened in
June 1933 as part of a federal work relief effort to
combat unemployment during the Great Depres-
sion, and it employed approximately 200 young
men from the region (Guillory 1983). Develop-
ment of the western half of West 5" Street was
less intensive than the development of the land
surrounding Woodland Plantation to the east;
however, between 1932 and 1949, new buildings
were erected along West 5%, Apricot, and Ash
streets, as well as Phoenix Lane (U.S. Geologi-
cal Survey 1932, 1949). While the western and
eastern ends of West 5 Street were more heavily
developed during the 1930s, land encompassing
the northern and southern sides of West 5" Street
between present-day Fir Street and Bradford
Place remained in agricultural use. The land was
owned by Godchaux Sugars, Inc. and comprised
the former Laplace Plantation, stretching from
the Mississippi River to the location of present-
day Interstate 10 well to the north.

Growth of LaPlace was spurred by new in-
dustrial complexes erected along River Road af-
ter World War II, and by 1950, the population had
reached 2,352 residents, over six times as many
as was recorded in 1914 (Unknown 1974:108).
Newly-platted streets included present-day
Beech, Balsam, Camphor, Cypress, Cedar, Elm,
Lily, Lilac, and Mahogany streets, as well as Ma-
ple Loop, among others. A number of new dwell-
ings were constructed along Fir Street, East 5%
Street/Highway 628, and Orange Loop, and Main
Street in particular became more heavily devel-
oped to the north of Airline Highway (NETR
var.) This spike in residential construction re-
flects nationwide housing trends during the post-
war period. A decline in construction during the
Great Depression and World War II resulted in a
housing shortage throughout the United States.
This shortage later was exacerbated by a postwar
baby boom. As a result of federal policies encour-
aging homeownership, over 6,000,000 houses
were built nationwide during the 1950s to meet
the housing demand (Office of Cultural Develop-

R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc.

12

Chapter II1: Historic Context

ment Division of Historic Preservation n.d.). This
housing boom was facilitated by the lifting of
war-time restrictions on certain building materi-
als as well as through the passage of legislation
such as the Servicemen’s Readjustment Act of
1944 (also known as the GI Bill) that provided
veterans with low-interest loans.

The sale of Godchaux Sugars, Inc. in 1957
as well as the construction of the DuPont plas-
tics plant on 600 acres just west of LaPlace in
1964 contributed to another construction boom
during the mid-twentieth century (Bank of St.
John 1974:59). Additionally, LaPlace’s popu-
lation continued to rise, and by 1960, the town
totaled 3,541 residents. Three new schools were
erected during the 1960s to support the growing
community (Guillory 1983:25). This includes the
St. Joan of Arc Catholic School, which was built
in 1961 on a parcel of undeveloped farmland at
the intersection of West 5™ and Fir streets that
previously was owned by Godchaux Sugars, Inc.
Other farmland formerly belonging to Godchaux
Sugars was subdivided and developed into new
residential communities during the late 1950s to
mid-1960s. The Riverland Heights subdivision
was platted to the north of Airline Highway in
1957, and was joined by the adjacent Carroll-
wood neighborhood in 1965. Godchaux Sugars
land to the south of West 5" Street also was de-
veloped into a small subdivision with residential
buildings lining Holly Drive, which encircled a
small lake. The flurry of new development along
West 5™ Street lead to the streets being renamed
in 1966: those streets intersecting West 5™ Street
were named after trees, their names placed in al-
phabetical order from Apricot to Willow. Streets
extending in an east-west direction, meanwhile,
were placed in numerical order. Finally, streets
east of Highway 51 were renamed after birds,
their names placed in alphabetical order from
Cardinal to Robin (L’ Observateur 1966).

The population of LaPlace totaled 5,953 by
1970, representing a 253 per cent increase over
1950. Major employers, including Petroleum re-
fineries along River Road and the DuPont plastics
plant, established facilities and provided sources
of employment during last decades of the twen-
tieth century. Historic aerial photography suggest
that the Riverland Heights and Carrollwood sub-
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divisions to the north of Airline Highway expand-
ed greatly during the 1970s, and by 1974, River-
land Heights alone totaled nearly 900 residential
buildings (Bank of St. John 1974:59; NETR var.).
Development of LaPlace continued into the fol-
lowing decades when Bayou Steel opened on the
community’s eastern edge during the 1980s. The
1995-1996 edition of the Louisiana Almanac in
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recognizing the continued evolution of LaPlace
stated that “LaPlace has experienced change and
growth in the last decade. Its residential and busi-
ness communities continue to expand at an un-
precedented rate, reflecting the unusual industrial
growth” (Calhoun 1995:242-243). Today, La-
Place is the largest town in St. John the Baptist
Parish.
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CHAPTER 1V

SURVEY RESULTS

his chapter summarizes the results of pre-

I vious architectural investigations in the
LaPlace survey area. The results of the
current architectural inventory also are provided.

Previous Investigations

A review of the National Register of His-
toric Places database maintained by the Louisi-
ana Office of Cultural Development, Division of
Historic Preservation revealed two individually-
listed National Register properties in the LaPlace
survey area. This includes Woodland Plantation,
located at 1128 Highway 628, and the Montegut
Plantation House, located at 1052 Highway 628.
Woodland Plantation was constructed ca. 1793
and was enlarged through the construction of ad-
ditions during the nineteenth and twentieth centu-
ries. The building was listed in the National Reg-
ister in 2017 and is significant under Criterion C
as a rare extant example of bousillage construc-
tion in St. John the Baptist Parish, as well as un-
der Criterion B for its association with jazz musi-
cian and pioneer Edward “Kid” Ory. The Mon-
tegut Plantation House, meanwhile, is significant
at the local level as an example of St. John the
Baptist’s early architectural heritage. The build-
ing was constructed ca. 1815 and was listed in the
National Register in 1987.

In addition to the two National Register-
listed properties, 66 resources in the survey area
that individually were documented in Historic
Resource Inventory forms prepared in 1983 and
1984. These resources are identified in Appendix
B.

The University of New Orleans Department
of Planning and Urban Studies undertook an ar-
chitectural survey of LaPlace in fall 2016 for the
purposes of recommending a “historic preserva-
tion strategy” to the St. John the Baptist Parish
(Department of Planning and Urban Studies,
University of New Orleans 2017:1). The bound-
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aries of this 2016 survey coincide with those of
the current survey area. The team surveyed 273
resources and identified 104 as contributing ele-
ments to a potential local historic district. The re-
sults of the survey are presented in a 2017 report
entitled Protecting the Future by Preserving the
Past: A Report to the St. John the Baptist Parish
Historic Preservation Study Committee, which
provided the basis for the local designation of the
LaPlace Historic District in July 2017 (St. John
the Baptist Parish Council Ordinance 17-27 Sec-
tion 114-29[a][4]).

Survey Results

The LaPlace survey area encompasses re-
sources located on either side